1959

Leroy R. Clark et al v. James T. Ereksen et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises as a result of a dispute as to the width of a lane known as Erekson's lane which is located in Salt Lake County as an extension of 7th East, running southerly from Vine Street east of Murray, Utah. The evidence shows that a lane has been open through the area for over 50 years

and now a dispute has arisen as to the proper width thereof. After taking testimony, the court concluded that a public road existed and that the reasonable width of said lane between the properties of the parties should be 40 ft. in part and 50 ft. the balance of the distance, he having concluded that "such width is reasonably necessary as a public road."

The undisputed facts show that for more than 30 years last past the maximum width of said lane in front of appellant's property has been 24.6 ft. This width has been established by the east fence line of the defendants' land and the west fence, tree and garage line of the plaintiffs' land.

The witnesses may be classified into the following groups as to their testimony relating to the use of the lane over the past years:

1. Members of the South Cottonwood Ward and Grant Ward traversed the lane on foot, on horseback or in buggies in going to and from church. (R. p. -04, 11. 25-30; R. p. 105, 11. 1-30; R. p. 106, 11. 27-28; R. p. 127, 11. 9-12; R. p. 133, 11. 15-30; R. p. 149, 11. 1-13; R. p. 175, 11. 22-30; R. p. 176, 11. 1-22; R. p. 194, 11. 12-15; R. p. 195, 11. 1-14).

2. Business customers or business associates of the Erekson dairy farm used the lane in delivering feed or to purchase milk and other dairy products (R. p. 104, 11. 20-25; R. p. 106, 11. 19-24; R. p. 127, 11. 13-19; R. p. 140, 11. 4-11).

3. Fisherman occasionally used the lane while fishing in the creek (R. p. 84, 11. 13-24; R. p. 149, 11. 14-19).

4. On rare occasions other persons used the lane for other purposes (R. pp. 82-83; R. p. 163, 11. 8-30; R. p. 169, 11. 1-24). Respondent Crabtree testified that the "public" used the lane (R. p. 106, 11. 6-7). However, an examination of his testimony at pages 104 to 106 discloses that the "public" to him meant the church members, the fishermen and Ereksen's customers and business associates. That counsel for the respondents was aware of this apparent defect in proof is demonstrated by his unsuccessful attempts to show that the lane was used by the customers of a store located north of subject property (R. p. 135, 11. 12-30; R. p. 164, 11. 6-11).

Six restrictive factors are undisputed in the record as to the width of use of the lane.

A. 19 to 22 feet long culvert across the lane immediately north of plaintiff's property has restricted the use to such 19 to 22 feet width as long as anyone can remember;

B. The Rauscher Pond within the limits of the plaintiff's property which extended westerly to the point of the line of the plaintiff's trees and fence which restricted the use of the lane to 24.6 feet up until about 1925;

C. Approximately 30 years ago the west portion of the Rauscher Pond was filled and within four or five years thereafter the trees were planted and the fence erected along its present line and the existence of the trees, fence and garage along the west side of plaintiff's property has restricted the use of the lane to 24.6 feet for the past 30 years;

D. At the crossing of the Cottonwood stream to the south of plaintiff's property the old Cedar Post and tree show that the maximum width there was approximately 22 feet;

E. To the south of the stream in an extension of the lane the defendants, Erekson, have maintained two ponds which are 16 feet apart between which the lane passes and hence have restricted the width and use of the lane to 16 feet.

F. The defendant, Erekson, has maintained gates approximately 15 feet in width across the lane at its south termini, which perforce, have restricted the use of the lane to such width.

This lane is a meandering country alley and the character of the lane is shown by the photographs Exhibits 1, to 9 inclusive. Attached hereto as an Appendix are two illustrative plats of the area showing the restricted nature and use of the lane and superimposed thereon the effect of the decree by the Court in widening the same beyond its former use and purpose.

There is an ancillary factual issue in the proceeding as to the description of the Appellants' property, in that the court found that a boundary by acquiescence was established at a point 244.90 feet east of the present quarter corner monument, whereas the decree quieting title does not exactly follow said line. The finding by the Court is that the Appellants' trees, fence and garage have been there at the said line for over 30 years. The conclusion is that a boundary by acquiescence has been thus established, but the Decree failed to follow said line. This inadvertance should now be rectified.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THE WIDTH OF EREKSON'S LANE IS A PUBLIC ROAD AND SHOULD BE 40 FEET WIDE IN PART AND 50 FEET IN PART, AS SUCH FINDING IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND THE LAW.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT THE USE OF THE LANE HAS BEEN RESTRICTED BY THE CULVERTS, THE TREES, THE PONDS AND THE GATES, AND HAS NOT EXCEEDED 25 FEET IN WIDTH AT ANY TIME.

POINT III.

THE COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THAT ONCE IT HAS FOUND A PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY TO EXIST ALONG THE ESTABLISHED LINE OF THE LANE THAT IT MAY

BY DECREE WIDEN THE SAME TO SUCH WIDTH AS THE COURT DEEMS NOW REASONABLY NECESSARY FOR ITS USE AS A PUBLIC ROAD IN LIGHT OF PRESENT VEHICULAR TRAVEL.

POINT IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT THE TITLE TO THE PLAINTIFF'S PROPERTY SHOULD BE QUIETED ALONG THE LINE OF THE BOUNDARY LINE AS SHOWN BY THE TREES, GARAGE, AND FENCE BEING 244.90 FEET EAST OF THE PRESENT QUARTER CORNER MONUMENT (OR 204.90 FEET EAST OF THE OLD MONUMENT) AS REFLECTED BY THE CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THE WIDTH OF EREKSON'S LANE IS A PUBLIC ROAD AND SHOULD BE 40 FEET WIDE IN PART AND 50 FEET IN PART, AS SUCH FINDING IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND THE LAW.

The decree of the trial court adjudges that a north-south public road (called Erekson Lane) extends along the west boundary of the property described in paragraph 1. a. of the decree (hereinafter called "subject property") and that said lane is fifty feet in width at certain points and forty feet in width at certain points as it passes subject property. A portion of this lane is shown in Exhibits 1 to 5, 8 and 9 in relation to subject property. Exhibits 2, 3, 4 and 8 are pictures taken from the north looking south and show a row of trees in line

with the side of a garage abutting the east side of the lane. Exhibits 1, 5 and 9 are pictures taken from the south looking north and show the abutting trees and garage from the opposite direction.

The public road decreed to exist includes not only the travelled portion of the lane shown in said exhibits but also an untravelled area ranging in width from about fifteen to twenty-five feet extending east of and including said row of trees and garage. Appellant Clyde R. Thompson asserts: A The evidence fails to support the finding and decree that Erekson Lane is a public road, and B Assuming Erekson Lane is a public road, there is no evidence to support the finding and decree as to the untravelled area.

A

The evidence fails to support the finding and decree that Erekson Lane is a public road. The Utah statute governing the dedication of public streets by use (27-1-2 U.C.A. 1953) provides that "a highway shall be deemed dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years." While the record contains substantial evidence that the lane has been and now is being regularly used by certain limited classes of persons, it does not contain evidence of use by the general public sufficient to constitute the lane a public road.

The record shows that the following persons have used the lane over the years for the purposes indicated:

1. Members of the South Cottonwood Ward and Grant Ward traversed the lane on foot, on horseback or in buggies in going to and from church;

2. Business customers or business associates of the Ereksen dairy farm used the lane in delivering feed or to purchase milk and other dairy products;

3. Fishermen occasionally used the lane while fishing in the creek;

4. On rare occasions other persons used the lane for other purposes. Respondent Crabtree testified that the "public" used the lane (R. p. 106, 11. 6-7). However, an examination of his testimony discloses that the "public" to him meant the church members, the fishermen and Ereksen's customers and business associates. That counsel for the respondents was aware of this apparent defect in proof is demonstrated by his unsuccessful attempts to show that the lane was used by the customers of a store located north of subject property (R. p. 135, 11. 12-30; R. p. 164, 11. 6-11).

The use of a road by a few individuals but not by the public generally does not create a public highway by prescriptive use (*Harris v. Schwartz*, 115 N. E. 345). The use of a road by employees,

customers and business associates does not constitute it a public highway (*Thompson v. Nelson*, 273 P. 2d 720, Utah, 1954). This court in the *Thompson* case quoted with approval the following definition of what constitutes a thoroughfare:

“A “thoroughfare” is a place or way through which there is passing or travel. It becomes a “public thoroughfare” when the public have a general right of passage. Under this statute the highway, even though it be over privately owned ground, will be deemed dedicated or abandoned to the public use when the public has continuously used it as a thoroughfare for a period of ten years, but such use must be by the public. Use under private right is not sufficient. If the thoroughfare is laid out or used as a private way, its use, however, long, as a private way, does not make it a public way; and the mere fact that the public also make use of it, without objection from the owner of the land, will not make it a public way. Before it becomes public in character the owner of the land must consent to the change. Elliott, Roads and Streets, No. 5.’ ”

The record is barren of evidence that the “public” has used Ereksen Lane for ten continuous years so as to constitute it a public road. The use of the lane by neighboring church friends, employees, customers and business associates was obviously permissive not hostile, particularly in view of the regular use at intervals of the gates. The sporadic use

of the lane by fishermen in season or the occasional use by others is wholly insufficient to support a finding and decree of a public road.

B

Assuming Erektion Lane is a public road, there is no evidence to support the finding and decree as to the untravelled area. The uncontradicted evidence detailed below is that prior to 1925 to 1930 the so-called "Rauscher" pond extended west of its present location (shown in Exhibits 3 and 8 to approximately the line of said row of trees. A fence guarded the pond on the west at that time. Between 1925 and 1930, a portion of the pond was filled in and its western edge moved eastward fourteen or fifteen feet to its approximate present location shown in said Exhibits 3 and 8. When the pond was filled in the fence was moved east to about the location of the fence shown in said Exhibits 3 and 8. Not over four or five years after these changes occurred, the row of trees was planted abutting the east side of the lane along the approximate line of the former pond edge and the garage was moved to its present location.

The following testimony and findings corroborate the above recitals:

Joseph Gillam who has lived in the neighborhood since he was a boy (R. p. 133, 11. 4-5) testified

that between 1888 and 1910 there were fences but no trees on both sides of the lane north of the creek (R. p. 137, 11, 1-30). Horace Godfrey used the lane from 1890 to 1903 (R. p. 162, 11. 10-18) and testified there was a fence on the Rauscher's (east) side of the lane and that when he took loads of hay into the Rauscher's barn during haying he would have to "turn with vigor, just within a short distance up there, into the barn" (R. p. 164, 11. 12-19). Godfrey said there was a pond on the west side of the Rauscher place next to the lane; that the lane was sixteen to twenty feet wide where it crossed the creek (R. p. 166, 11. 11-26); and that the culvert beneath the lane was the same width (R. p. 168, 11. 2-11). Irene Littson Ottley who used the lane as far back as 1892 remembered the Rauscher pond and could not remember when it was constructed. She said there were fences on both side of the lane north of the creek between it and Vine Street (R. p. 170, 11. 4-15). Defendant J. T. Erekson stated the so-called Rauscher pond at one time extended further west than it now does; that Shafer filled in a portion of the pond, moving the west edge of the pond east and at the same time moved the fence east (R. p. 178, 11. 14-24). Brent Gaufin remembered that before the pond was filled in, the west edge extended approximately to where the row of trees shown on Exhibit P3 now is (R.

p. 145, 11. 25-30). Gaufin said that between 1925 and 1930 the west edge of the pond was moved eastward approximately fourteen to fifteen feet (R. p. 146, 11. 10-30) and that before this change occurred the lane was approximately twenty-five feet wide between the west edge of the pond (the present tree line) and the west side of the lane (R. p. 151, 11. 9-13). Plaintiff Leroy R. Clark moved to said property in August, 1935 (R. p. 77, 11. 12-13) and said that at that time there was a fence post at the "end of the last tree" in front of the garage (R. p. 88, 11. 11-27). Based on this evidence the court found:

"Prior to the planting of the trees and erection of the garage, plaintiffs' predecessor in title maintained a pond which presently exists but which extended Westerly to the line described in the preceding paragraph until it was filled about 30 years ago." (R. p. 64)

Defendant J. T. Erikson testified that the garage shown in Exhibits 1, 2, 3 and 4 was placed in its present position and the row of trees was planted some time between 1925 and 1930 and have been in place since then (R. p. 179, 11. 3-30). Brent Gaufin also testified that said trees were planted between 1925 and 1930 (R. p. 143, 11. 15-29) and that the garage moved to its present location after 1930 (R. p. 144, 11. 1-5). Based upon that and

other testimony, the court found, and properly so, that "for more than thirty years last past the plaintiffs have had, established and maintained a garage, trees, and a fence along the west line of the property described in paragraph 2 above" (R. p. 63). There is no evidence that the public has made any use of the area east of said row of trees since they were planted.

Except for a period of not over four or five years the east line of Erekson Lane, as it passes subject property, has been marked either by the row of trees and the west side of the garage shown in said exhibits or by the pond edge which formerly extended out to the present tree line and which was surrounded by a fence. There is no evidence whatsoever that the untravelled area east of said tree line has ever been used by the public. It could not have been used prior to 1925-1930 because of the pond and fence nor afterward because of the trees and garage. This untravelled area *may* have been used during the four or five year period between the filling in of the pond and the planting of the trees although there is no evidence to prove it. Even if it were used during this period, the use was not of sufficient duration to establish a public road.

Since the record is clear and the findings confirm the fact that Eerekson Lane where it passes the so-called Rauscher pond (even assuming the

land is a public street) could never have exceeded its present width (approximately twenty-five feet) except possibly for an interval of four or five years, the decree of the court that the lane at that point is either forty or fifty feet wide must, as to the untravelled portion east of the tree line, be based upon something other than actual use. Perhaps the court's error arose from a misinterpretation and misapplication of the principle state in *Lindsay Land & Live Stock Co. v. Churnos*, 285 Pac. 646, and *Jeremy v. Bertagnole*, 116 P. 2d 420, that the width of a public highway created through ten years of continuous public use would be that reasonable and necessary for the uses which were made of the road and that the width would not be limited to the area actually used. If that is the basis of the court's decision as to the untraveled area, the court erred for the following reasons:

First: Under the facts and circumstances of this case a right-of-way the width of the area now travelled and used is all that is reasonable and necessary for the uses which have been made of the lane; and

Second: The above principle is inapplicable here since the abutting land never actually used by the public as a right-of-way is occupied by valuable improvements.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT THE USE OF THE LANE HAS BEEN RESTRICTED BY THE CULVERTS, THE TREES, THE PONDS AND THE GATES, AND HAS NOT EXCEEDED 25 FEET IN WIDTH AT ANY TIME.

Erekson Lane is an irregularly-shaped, meandering country lane which prior to the advent of automobiles was used principally by pedestrians and horseback riders and some buggies and wagons. The lane is now occasionally used by automobiles although such use has been rare because of the lack of a vehicular bridge across the creek. About the only vehicles that now use the lane are those belonging to the customers and business associates of the Erekson dairy (R. pp. 104-106). During fishing season some cars pull into the lane and park while the occupants are fishing (R. p. 84, 11. 13-24). Very few automobiles use the lane as a means of getting from Vine Street to 59th South. Clark testified that during the more than twenty years he lived there he occasionally crossed the creek and drove to 59th South from his place but that he seldom saw other cars driving through (R. p. 84, 11. 3-12). The reason for this is obvious since the public would not reasonably be expected to use a narrow dirt country lane often closed by gates which crosses an open unbridged ditch when there are wide public highways available for use nearby (Exhibit 14).

The lane in its present condition is wholly adequate for the uses to which it has been put. No one has ever complained that it is inadequate. The vehicles that use it come and go without difficulty except possibly when they get stuck in the ditch and that circumstances of course has no relationship to the width of the lane. On the occasions when the county has had equipment in the lane it has been able to maneuver without any reported difficulty. The lane in its present condition is wide enough for two vehicles to pass (R. p. 123, 11. 14-19).

The attention of the court is directed to the attached appendix which are illustrative plats. Particularly there are six restrictive factors which obviate any possible legitimate claim of a public road over 24.6 feet wide.

- a. 19 to 22 feet long culvert across the lane immediately north of plaintiff's property which has restricted the use to such 19 to 22 feet width as long as anyone can remember;
- b. The Rauscher Pond within the limits of the plaintiff's property which extended westerly to the point of the line of the plaintiff's trees and fence which restricted the use of the lane to 24.6 feet up until about 1925;
- c. Approximately 30 years ago the west portion of the Rauscher Pond was filled and within four or five years thereafter the trees were planted and the fence erected along its present line and the existence of the trees, fence and garage along the west side of plaintiff's property has restricted the use of the lane to 24.6 feet for the past 30 years;

d. At the crossing of the Cottonwood stream to the south of plaintiff's property the old Cedar Post and tree show that the maximum width there was approximately 22 feet;

e. To the south of the stream in an extension of the lane the defendants, Ereksen, have maintained two ponds which are 16 feet apart have restricted the width and use of the lane to 16 feet.

f. The defendant, Ereksen, has maintained gates approximately 15 feet in width across the lane at its south termini, which perforce, have restricted the use of the lane to such width.

These six obstacles are of long standing and have utterly prohibited a "public or other use of the lane in excess of the 24.6 ft. width." The fence line of respondents along the west side of the lane has been there for more years than anyone cared to state. This has fixed the west line apparently though the logic of the district court's decree would permit this to be moved over as readily as appellants' trees, garage and fence to accommodate the width which the trial court feels might be more desirable for present automotive travel.

This country lane fords the Cottonwood Creek. In the winter no one tries to run a car through the snow and the creek too. There was no evidence of such winter travel through the creek. In the spring, during the runoff, the lane is impassible because of high waters. At the point where the lane enters

the Cottonwood Creek heading south, there is an old cedar post just 21 feet east from the respondents' fence line. Mr. Clark testified as to a special examination and measurement of the same made during the course of the trial.

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