1959

Leroy R. Clark et al v. James T. Erekson et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

The two questions involved in this lawsuit are ultimate questions of fact and the legal questions are concerned with the legal effect of the evidence in establishing the ultimate question of fact.

POINT I.

IS THERE A PUBLIC ROAD RUNNING NORTH AND SOUTH BETWEEN THE PROPERTY OF APPELLANTS AND THE PROPERTY OF DEFENDANTS?

Respondents claim, and the Court so found, that Ereksen Lane as it runs north and south between the property of Appellants on the east and the defendants on the west is a public road.

First, let us refer to the Decree entered in Case No. 40279 in 1928 by Judge Chris Mathison. In this case Judge Mathison found that Ereksen Lane from the north boundary of appellant's property to Vine Street to be a public road 46 feet wide. The road as it passes appellant's property is bounded on the west by an old fence surrounded by a privet hedge. The east boundary is identified by a fence 50 feet east of the west fence for the northerly 40 feet. It then jogs west 10 feet and the fence then runs at a distance of 40 feet from the west fence to the garage. The west line of the garage is approximately 25 feet from the west line, then the fence from the south side of the garage runs in a southeasterly direction. Appellants did not at any time contend that there was ever

a fence or any other obstruction in the road, or that it was ever narrower than 50 feet for the north 40 feet of appellant's property.

The abstract of title of Respondent Crabtree is in evidence as Defendant's Exhibit 12. This abstract discloses that the Patent was issued in 1891, but as far back as June 26, 1875, the patentee conveyed the property of Defendant Crabtree, and commenced the description as follows:

“Beginning at a point in the center of a north and south County Road 4.12 chains true East from the northeast corner of the Southwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 17, * * *”

This Deed clearly indicates that the parties thereto considered that a County road existed at the point in question, and in view of the fact that the patent to this land had not been issued, it could only have become a County road by user pursuant to the provisions of 43 U.S.C.A. 932, which provides:

“* * * the right of way for the construction of public highways over public lands not reserved for public uses is hereby granted.”

Patents are issued subject to existing rights of way, so respondents contend that there has been a County road at the point in question since at least 1875.

The Erikson abstract, in evidence as Defendant's Exhibit 13, at Entry 3 identifies a north-south County road at the point in question, the Deed being dated in 1901. The abstract of title to appellant's property in

evidence as Exhibit 7, and the conveyances running as far back as 1877 have the following opening the description:

“Commencing in the center of an open street about four chains East from the Southwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 17 * * *.”

(See Entries numbers 6, 7, 8, 12, 19, 21, 23, 28, 29, 30, 34, 35 and 43)

All of these descriptions, in addition to commencing in the center of an open street, also describe the west line of appellant's property as a straight line running due North and South. It is interesting to note also that the means of ingress and egress to and from appellant's property has been by way of Ereksen Lane, and if their right to the use of the lane was predicated on some type of a private easement, it is to be noted that there is nothing in the abstract to indicate such private right, and there likewise is no grant of such right contained in any of the deeds of conveyance to said property. It is acknowledged that the conveyances convey rights of way and appurtenances, but such a valuable right as the right of ingress and egress, if it were a private right, would certainly have been identified in the several conveyances.

In addition to the documentary evidence above referred to, Respondent Clark, who resided in the property of appellants from 1935 until 1953, testified that he traveled from his home south along the lane to 5900 South Street four or five times each year. (Tr. 83) He testified that sometimes there were a couple of gates across the road, but that they were never locked.

Respondent Crabtree, who has been a continuous resident on the lane since 1934, testified that there was between 50 and 100 persons who traveled through the lane each month during the entire period. (Tr. 106) He also testified that the County had used its snow removal equipment to clear the lane; that at times they have graded the road (Tr. 108), and they have put in a culvert in the lane. (Tr. 109)

Joe Gillham, a witness called on behalf of respondents, testified that from about 1890 until 1910 he was a member of the South Cottonwood Ward, and that in going to and from the meeting house would go East on 59th South to Ereksen Lane thence North along the lane past the property in question to the meeting house. (Tr. 134) That at that time there were no gates on the lane.

Mr. Gillham, on cross-examination, stated that the lane was 50 feet wide as it passed the property of appellants. (Tr. 135-6) That at that time there were no fences on either side of the lane south of the property of appellants. He said that all of his neighbors traveled this same route, and he named some of them and indicated that they traveled on foot, or by team, surrey or buggy. (Tr. 133)

Brent Graufin, called as a witness by respondents, testified that he was Principal of the Mid Valley School in the Jordan District, and was a nephew of Respondent Ereksen's wife, and that from 1915 until 1927 (Tr. 140), he spent many of his summers at the home of Respond-

ent Erekson, and that he was very familiar with Erekson Lane, and particularly that part of it between appellant's property and Respondent Crabtree. He prepared plaintiff's Exhibit 10 from measurements and field notes that he had made in connection with T. F. McDonald, a licensed surveyor, for whom he worked at odd times. He further testified that from 1918 to 1928 that nearly every day there would be carriages, and sometimes automobiles, traveling through the lane. (Tr. 148) He identified some of the people who traveled through the lane, and that some people used it that he was not acquainted with, and that some would travel down to the creek and go fishing. (Tr. 149)

Horace Godfrey, a witness called on behalf of Respondents, testified that from 1890 to 1903 he frequently had occasion to travel through Erekson's Lane (Tr. 162), and that during that period he saw many other people using the road, and at that time the condition and width of Erekson Lane was comparable to that of Vine Street. (Tr. 167)

Irene Litson Ottley, a witness called on behalf of respondents, testified that she had lived in the vicinity of 6344 South 7th East since 1884, and she was very well acquainted with Erekson Lane (Tr. 168), and that on many occasions she traveled from Vine Street to 59th South by way of Erekson Lane, usually walking, but occasionally riding in a wagon; that she saw many, many other people using the lane during the period, some of whom she named. (Tr. 169)

Respondent J. T. Erekson testified that he had lived at his present address, 766 East Vine Street, since 1918, and that he can remember Erekson Lane for about sixty years. (Tr. 174) That the County had put gravel on the road at different times. (Tr. 182) That there has always been substantial travel through the lane (Tr. 175), and that the volume of traffic was fairly constant from 1900 to 1920, but with the coming of automobiles there was a smaller volume of traffic because of having to ford the creek. (Tr. 176)

James Orland Thorum, a witness called on behalf of respondents, testified that he had lived at 482 East 59th South since 1900, and that he had been acquainted with Erekson Lane for many years, and that from 1900 to 1912 (Tr. 194), he traveled through Erekson Lane once or twice each week, and generally on Sundays he would find other people using the lane at the same time. (Tr. 195)

Earl E. Howe, a witness called on behalf of Respondents, testified that he has been familiar with Erekson Lane for 50 years, and in response to the question by Counsel for respondent as to the travel on the lane, he answered: "Yes. It is traveled considerably."

James M. Dunster, a witness called on behalf of Respondents, testified that he frequently had used Erekson Lane (Tr. 205), and that he would bring beet pulp from West Jordan Sugar Factory to his home by going East on 59th South to Erekson Lane, thence North on Erekson Lane to Vine Street.

more than sixty years last past, so the location of the east boundry of the road can best be determined as being at some appropriate distance east of the west boundry. This method is also indicated by virtue of the fact that the west quarter corner of Section 17, to which the surveys of the property in question has been tied, is presently represented by two different monuments, each of which purports to be the true quarter corner. (Tr. 110)

The evidence shows without dispute that prior to 1924 the garage was located on the easterly part of appellants' property, and there were no trees west of the pond. The evidence further shows that the artificial pond, which, prior to 1924, extended in to the 50-foot roadway some 20 or 25 feet, was filled in my the then owner of appellants' property, a man by the name of Shafer. (Tr. 178; Tr. 146) Shafer filled the pond from dirt from the roadway. Prior to that time there had not been a fence between the road and the pond as testified to by appellants' witness, Earl Home. (Tr. 201) After the pond had been filled in the then owner of the property, Shafer, built the fence between the pond and the road at a point 40 feet east of the west fence line. (Tr. 202; Tr. 179; Tr. 147) About 1924 Schryver, the then owner of appellants' property, moved the garage, which had theretofore been a cow barn, out into the road, and a few years thereafter planted some trees to the north of there in the roadway. (Tr. 152; Tr. 178) Appellants apparently sought to establish their right to the land where the trees and garage were located on the basis, as attorney for appellant Clark stated: "By adverse possession and pre-

scriptive use.” (Tr. 46) This very statement presupposes that prior to the time that the garage and trees were located at their present site the land in question was part of the public road. Their position has changed and now seems to be that the road always ran to the west of where the trees and garage are now located. In other words, that Erekson Lane as it proceeded southerly was at a rather uniform width of from 46 to 50 feet until it got to this particular point where all of a sudden it narrowed to 25 feet, and after passing appellants’ property immediately widened out to a 40 to 50 foot road. It is submitted that there is no evidence whatsoever to support this proposition, but on the contrary, the only evidence is that the road was approximately 50 feet in width throughout its distance from Vine Street to 59th South. (Tr. 135; Tr. 181; Tr. 182; Tr. 146)

On the question of width this Court has had the following to say:

In *Jeremy v. Bertagnole*, 101 Ut. 1, Utah, 1941, 116 P. (2d) 420, the Court found a public way to be 60 feet in width in places and 5 rods in other places.

“Before doing so, however, it is proper to observe that even as to pedestrians and vehicular traffic, where the evidence establishes dedication of a roadway as in this case, the width of such roadway is not to be by the court measured by the boundaries of the beaten track. ‘It was proper and necessary for the court in defining the road to determine its width, and to fix the same according to what was reasonable and necessary, under all the facts and circumstances, for the uses which

The appropriate law applicable to the above facts is as follows:

Utah Code Annotated, 1953:

Sec. 27-1-1. "Public highways" defined. — In all counties all roads, streets, alleys, lanes, courts, places, trails and bridges laid out or erected as such by the public, or dedicated or abandoned to the public, or made such in actions for the partition of real property, are public highways.

Sec. 27-1-2. Public use constituting dedication. — A highway shall be deemed to have been dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years.

Sec. 27-1-3. Highways once established continue until abandoned. — All highways once established must continue to be highways until abandoned by order of the board of county commissioners of the county in which they are situated, or other competent authority.

The latest declaration of this Court on the subject is found in *Boyer v. Clark*, 7 U 2d 391, Utah 1958, 326 P. (2d) 107, where the Court said:

"The uncontradicted evidence in the instant case disclosed that for a period exceeding 50 years, the public, even though not consisting of a great many persons, made a continuous and uninterrupted use of Middle Canyon Road in traveling by wagon and other vehicles and by horse from Upton to Grass Creek and other points as often as they found it convenient or necessary. They trailed cattle, and sheep, hauled coal, and used this trail for other purposes in traveling from Grass Creek and various other points to and from Highway 133. This

evidence was sufficient as a matter of law to establish a highway by dedication and the court erred in finding otherwise. The highway once having been established by such use, it is provided by statute, Sec. 27-1-3, U.C.A. 1953, that it '* * * must continue to be highway(s) until abandoned by order of the board of county commissioners * * * or other competent authority.' There is no contention that any such procedure has been invoked here."

See also: *Wilson v. Hull*, 7 Ut 90, Utah 1890, 24 P. 799
Whittaker v. Ferguson, 16 Ut. 240, Utah 1889, 51 P. 980.

By virtue of the fact that the appellants offered no testimony whatsoever to contradict the testimony of the witnesses hereinbefore referred to, coupled with the fact that Counsel for appellants Clark predicated their claim to the land where the garage and trees are located, on the basis of adverse possession and prescriptive use (Tr. 75-6), it seems clear that Ereksen Lane is a public road and has been since prior to patent, and certainly the evidence amply supports the proposition that for more than ten years there has been continuous use of the road by the public, and there is no evidence of any abandonment of the road by the county commissioners.

POINT II.

IF THERE IS A PUBLIC ROAD AT THE PLACE INDICATED IN POINT I, WHERE IS THE EAST BOUNDARY OF THE ROAD AS IT PASSES ALONG THE WEST SIDE OF APPELLANT'S PROPERTY?

All of the testimony indicates that the west boundary of Ereksen Lane is now situated where it has been for

were made of the road.' Lindsay Land & Live Stock Co. v. Churnos, *supra*. In Whitesides v. Green, 13 Utah 341, 44 P. 1032, 1033 57 Am St. Rep. 740, in discussing the question here involved, this court said:

“ ‘Counsel for the appellant appear to insist that the public have only a right to travel on the beaten path, and must be confined to one rod in width. We cannot agree with counsel that, where the public have acquired the right to a public highway by user, they are limited to such width as has actually been used by them. Generally, the greater part of the travel on a county highway is doubtless confined to the track made by vehicles, but there must be room enough for travelers with wagons, carriages, or implements to pass each other, and for necessary improvements and repairs to be made so as to keep it in a suitable condition. The right acquired by prescription and use carries with it such width as is reasonably necessary for the public easement of travel, and where the public have acquired the easement the land subject to it has passed under the jurisdiction of the public authorities, for the purpose of keeping the same in proper condition for the enjoyment thereof by the public. Such authorities are bound to keep the road open and in suitable repair, and, if obstructions be placed thereon, it is their duty to remove the same, and care for the rights of the public. * * * The purpose for which the easement was acquired must determine the effect of the right parted with by the owner, and the width necessary for the enjoyment of the highway by the public. Where the easement is acquired by prescription or use such width must be determined from a consideration of the facts and circumstances peculiar to the case, because in such event the court cannot say that in law the highway is of a certain width, in the absence of statutory pro-

vision. * * * Whatever may be the width in any particular case, the easement cannot be limited, when acquired by user, to the actual beaten path.' "

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